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of the notes is established, the conclusion is ineluctable that the
notes were investment and not commercial paper. Since revival
would inure to their benefit, recipients accepted the notes with the
hope of realizing a greater return on their investments."

In summary it can be said that the Fifth Circuit has moved
significantly in the "fraud" area under the 1934 Act to enunciate
limits and has adopted an expansive approach to the definition of
a "security" under both the 1933 Act and the 1934 Act. The fertile
mind of man is capable of conceiving schemes for parting investors
from their money which were not conceived of by the drafters of the
1933 Act and the 1934 Act; however, the Fifth Circuit has indicated
its willingness to follow the remedial nature of the securities laws
in protecting the investing public.

Survey

It would be deceiving to measure the significance of the work
of the Fifth Circuit in the area of federal securities law by the rela-
tively small number of decisions rendered during the 1973-74 term.
Several of the more important cases this term provided the court
with an opportunity to deal specifically with currently controversial
issues. Although the decisions may have been correct or incorrect,
depending on one's point of view, the court's position on these ques-
tions must be of concern to those who engage in the practice of
securities law in the Fifth Circuit.

I. SECURITIES FRAUD LITIGATION UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE

ACT OF 1934

The analytical focus in the area of securities fraud litigation
must be on the court's decisions in Smallwood v. Pearl Brewing Co.I
and Sargent v. Genesco, Inc.' Both cases required the court to con-
sider in detail sections 10(b), 14(a), and 14(e) of the Securities Ex-
change Act of 1934, and both were instructive as to the court's
general attitude toward private securities litigation. At times, the
court appeared to take a liberal attitude toward the private plain-
tiff; at others, the court leaned toward the traditional point of view
and declined to follow the "modern trend." The end result could

1. 489 F.2d 579 (5th Cir. Feb.,1974), cert. denied, 42 U.S.L.W. 3212 (U.S. Oct. 15,1974).
2. 492 F. 2d 750 (5th Cir. Apr.,1974).
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well be viewed as a laudable balancing approach, with the legisla-
tive purposes of the federal securities law as the final determinant.

A. Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5

It is undisputed that those who conceived section 10(b)3 and its
implementing provision, rule 10b-5,1 never appreciated the tremen-
dous impact these provisions ultimately would have on judicial de-
velopments under the federal securities laws. Soon after the recogni-
tion of a private cause of action under rule 10b-5 in Kardon v.
National Gypsum Co.,5 it became the most litigated provision of the
securities laws. In its language the rule is a very broad prohibition
of fraud in connection with the purchase or sale of any security.
Much of the controversy under 10b-5, however, has centered around
the development of required elements for a private cause of action
to serve as limitations on what otherwise would result in an ons-
laught of private litigation. Notwithstanding this extensive develop-
ment, confusion and uncertainty still reign among the circuit courts
as to the prerequisites for such an action. Although not untouched
by this perplexity, the Fifth Circuit this term has done much to
clarify its position on several points previously in doubt.

1. Elements of the Private Cause of Action

The first decision by the court this term of precedential import-
ance was Smallwood v. Pearl Brewing Co.7 As is typical in securities
litigation, the facts surrounding the Smallwood decision' were quite
complex. A merger agreement was reached whereby Pearl Brewing
Company (Pearl) would be merged into Southdown, Inc. (South-
down), and each Pearl shareholder would receive one share of
Southdown convertible preferred for each share of Pearl common
stock. Pearl's obligation to consummate the merger was contingent
upon Southdown's obtaining a firm commitment from a group of
underwriters to purchase at an agreed price up to 45 percent of the
Southdown preferred acquired by the Pearl shareholders pursuant

3. Securities Exchange Act of 1934 § 10(b), 15 U.S.C § 78j(b) (1970).
4. 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5 (1974).
5. 69 F. Supp. 512 (E.D. Pa. 1946), modified, 73 F. Supp. 798 (E.D. Pa. 1947).
6. 1 A. BROMBERG, SECURITIES LAW: FRAUD-SEC RULE 10b-5 § 2.5(6), at 45-46 (1973).
7. 489 F.2d 579 (5th Cir. Feb.,1974), cert. denied, 42 U.S.L.W. 3212 (U.S. Oct. 15,1974).

For a discussion of the court's disposition of the section 14(a) claim, see text accompanying
notes 98-110 infra. For a discussion of the court's disposition of the section 14(e) claim, see
text accompanying notes 127-38 infra.

8. 489 F.2d at 584-89.
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to the merger; Pearl, however, had the power to waive this require-
ment.

On July 17, 1969, Pearl advised its shareholders of the proposed
merger by way of a letter that recommended approval of the merger,
but failed to mention certain allegedly material facts concerning the
merger agreement. On August 12, 1969, Pearl's management sent its
shareholders proxy materials in anticipation of approval of the
merger; these materials also allegedly contained misleading infor-
mation and the omission of material facts.

The merger ultimately was approved and a tentative merger
date was set. The Pearl shareholders were informed by Southdown
through the mail on November 18, 1969, that if they wished to take
advantage of Southdown's commitment to arrange for the purchase
of the Southdown preferred upon completion of the merger, they
must tender their Pearl common stock certificates to a designated
agent no later than December 2, 1969. The letter, however, failed
to mention the merger agreement provision for a 10-day period fol-
lowing the merger during which the underwriters would purchase
the Southdown preferred stock.

Because of a drastic fall in the price of Southdown stock during
the Fall of 1969, Southdown was unable to obtain the contemplated
underwriting commitment. As an alternative, Southdown per-
suaded Zapata Norness, Inc. (Zapata), its controlling shareholder,
to purchase the Pearl shares deposited pursuant to the letter of
November 18. The merger was consummated on December 30, 1969,
and Zapata purchased the agreed-upon shares.

The plaintiff, a Pearl shareholder, attempted to tender his
Pearl shares in accordance with the letter of November 18, but
because he missed the December 2 deadline, his tender was rejected.
He filed an individual, class, and derivative suit against South-
down, Pearl, Zapata, and certain officers of Southdown and Pearl.
The complaint alleged violations of sections 10(b), 14(a), and 14(e)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (1934 Act) and certain rules
promulgated thereunder.

With respect to the plaintiff's claim under section 10(b) and
rule 10b-5, the Fifth Circuit, through Judge Wisdom, first addressed
the question of the plaintiff's standing to maintain the action. Al-
though the "purchaser-seller" requirement announced in Birnbaum
v. Newport Steel Corp.9 recently had been rejected in the Seventh

9. 193 F.2d 461 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 343 U.S. 956 (1952).
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Circuit," the court was convinced that the requirement still gov-
erned in most circuits, at least in actions for damages." The court
noted, however, that the "seller" requirement had been extended
beyond its common law meaning in keeping with an attitude of
flexibility toward the interpretation of rule 10b-5 and the broad
remedial purposes of the 1934 Act. 2 In analyzing the plaintiff's
standing to sue, Judge Wisdom was concerned with the extension
involving the treatment of a consummated merger as a purchase or
sale. Pointing to the Supreme Court's decision in SEC v. National
Securities, Inc." and its own decision in Herpich v. Wallace,4 the
court found that, upon the conversion of Pearl shares into South-
down shares pursuant to the merger, the plaintiff and the members
of his class in effect had sold their Pearl shares and purchased
Southdown shares. Accordingly, the court held that the plaintiff
had standing to sue under rule 10b-5 in both his individual and
representative capacities."

Continuing to deal with the merger transaction, the court next
was required to determine whether the plaintiff had standing to sue
derivatively. Judge Wisdom rejected the contention that because
Pearl never had possession of any securities, it had neither bought
nor sold securities, and thus, the plaintiff should be denied deriva-
tive standing to sue." The court noted that the definition of "pur-
chase" under the 1934 Act includes "any contract to . . .purchase
or otherwise acquire."' 7 Accordingly, the court reasoned that be-
cause Pearl had contracted with Southdown to transfer all of its
assets in exchange for the Southdown preferred issued to its share-
holders, Pearl actually had purchased the stock for its sharehold-
ers. 8 "Although not an active conduit or the ultimate recipient of
the Southdown preferred stock, Pearl acted as a 'purchaser' in all
other respects." 9

10. Eason v. General Motors Acceptance Corp., 490 F.2d 654 (7th Cir. 1973), cert
denied, 416 U.S. 960 (1974).

11. Smallwood v. Pearl Brewing Co., 489 F.2d 579, 589 (5th Cir. Feb.,1974), cert.
denied, 42 U.S.L.W. 3212 (U.S. Oct. 15, 1974).

12. Id. at 590.
13. 393 U.S. 453 (1969).
14. 430 F.2d 792 (5th Cir. 1970).
15. Smallwood v. Pearl Brewing Co., 489 F.2d 579, 591 (5th Cir. Feb.,1974), cert.

denied, 42 U.S.L.W. 3212 (U.S. Oct. 15, 1974).
16. Id. at 592.
17. Id., citing Securities Exchange Act of 1934 § 3(a)(13), 15 U.S.C. § 78c(a)(13) (1970).
18. Smallwood v. Pearl Brewing Co., 489 F.2d 579, 592 (5th Cir. Feb.,1974), cert.

denied, 42 U.S.L.W. 3212 (U.S. Oct. 15, 1974).
19. Id.
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Because the plaintiff alleged fraud not only in connection with
the merger transaction, but also in connection with the Southdown
letter of November 18 and the purchase by Zapata of the Pearl stock
tendered in accordance with that letter, Judge Wisdom was required
to examine these transactions as potential bases for standing to sue.
After holding that under the Birnbaum doctrine one does not ac-
quire standing by refusing to tender securities, the court then re-
jected the plaintiff's claim that he was a "forced seller" in connec-
tion with the above transactions. 0 The court conceded that some
courts have relied on the "forced seller" doctrine announced in Vine
v. Beneficial Finance Co.2 to grant standing to plaintiffs who ac-
tually did not surrender their securities.22 The limits of the Vine
doctrine, however, were articulated by the Fifth Circuit in Dudley
v. Southeastern Factor & Finance Corp. :23

Vine's informing principle, carried forward in [Crane Co. v. West-
inghouse Air Brake Co. 4], is that a shareholder should be treated
as a seller when the nature of his investment has been fundamen-
tally changed from an interest in a going enterprise into a right
solely to a payment of money for his shares.25

Judge Wisdom found the plaintiff's case to fall outside this limita-
tion. He could continue to hold his interest in Southdown, certainly
a going enterprise, or trade his Southdown shares in the securities
market. The plaintiff, therefore, lacked standing to sue independent
of the merger transaction.26

The court's holding that the plaintiff lacked standing based on
the letter of November 18 and the Zapata purchase did not foreclose
automatically his standing to assert his claims for fraud arising out
of these transactions. Basing its holding squarely on the Supreme
Court's decision in Superintendent of Insurance v. Bankers Life &
Casualty Co. ,7 the court stated:

Indeed, we are of the opinion that Zapata's purchase was tied

20. Id. at 593.
21. 374 F.2d 627 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 389 U.S. 970 (1967).
22. Smallwood v. Pearl Brewing Co., 489 F.2d 579, 593 (5th Cir. Feb.,1974), cert.

denied, 42 U.S.L.W. 3212 (U.S. Oct. 15, 1974).
23. 446 F.2d 303 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 404 U.S. 858 (1971).
24. 419 F.2d 787 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 400 U.S. 822 (1969).
25. 446 F.2d 303, 307 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 404 U.S. 858 (1971).
26. Smallwood v. Pearl Brewing Co., 489 F.2d 579, 594 (5th Cir. Feb.,1974), cert.

denied, 42 U.S.L.W. 3212 (U.S. Oct. 15, 1974).
27. 404 U.S. 6 (1971).
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closely enough to the merger to be considered "in connection with"
that transaction. Thus the standing that [the plaintiff] acquired
through the merger permits him to assert violations of Rule 10b-5
in the November 18 letter and the later purchase by Zapata."

The court observed that the Supreme Court in Bankers Life estab-
lished the principle that a plaintiff, by virtue of a purchase in one
transaction, may acquire standing to sue for an alleged violation of
rule 10b-5 in another transaction if the transactions are part of a
common fraudulent scheme. 9 When such a scheme is alleged, the
plaintiff, under Bankers Life, need show only "that the transaction
involving a purchase 'touch[ed]' the transaction alleged to involve
the fraud." 3 In the view of the court, the plaintiff had satisfied the
Bankers Life test.

After thoroughly discussing and resolving the question of stand-
ing to sue under 10b-5, Judge Wisdom turned the attention of the
court to whether there in fact had been violations of the rule. The
jury found in the district court that material information had been
omitted from Southdown's letter of November 18.1' Accordingly, the
plaintiff contended that the trial court erred in refusing to find
violations of rule 10b-5 and section 14(e). 3

1 The court thoroughly
discussed a balancing approach to determining adequacy of disclo-
sure,3 but found it unnecessary to decide the question because of
the plaintiff's failure to show that the defendants had acted with the
requisite culpability. 34 The court recognized the trend away from
requiring proof of scienter in the common law sense, but unfortun-
ately concluded that because the circuits were in such confusion as
to the scienter requirement, the Fifth Circuit should not avail itself
of the opportunity to make a definitive pronouncement on the
issue. 5 Significantly, however, the court was willing to hold that
"some culpability, beyond mere negligence, is required. '3

Along with Smallwood v. Pearl Brewing Co., the Fifth Circuit's
decision in Sargent v. Genesco, Inc.37 represented the court's most

28. Smallwood v. Pearl Brewing Co., 489 F.2d 579, 594 (5th Cir. Feb.,1974), cert.
denied, 42 U.S.L.W. 3212 (U.S. Oct. 15, 1974).

29. Id. at 595.
30. Id.
31. Id. at 605.
32. Id.
33. Id. at 605-06.
34. Id. at 606.
35. Id.
36. Id.
37. 492 F.2d 750 (5th Cir. Apr.,1974). For a discussion of the court's dispositon of the
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complete consideration of securities fraud generally and rule 10b-5
in particular. To obtain additional working capital, Leeds Shoes,
Inc. (Leeds) issued and sold convertible subordinated debentures to
the public. After Leeds filed a registration statement with the Se-
curities and Exchange Commission (SEC) under the Securities Act
of 1933 (1933 Act), it became apparent that Leeds' recent financial
statements contained many overstatements. These overstatements
were also contained in the prospectus for the debenture offering;
also, certain misstatements were included in the annual report to
shareholders, filings with the SEC, and several press releases. The
SEC immediately suspended trading in Leeds' securities. In re-
sponse to these difficulties, Leeds' management, the underwriters
who participated in the debenture offering, Genesco (Leeds' only
preferred shareholder and principal supplier), and Prudential Insur-
ance Company of America (Leeds' major creditor) developed a "refi-
nancing plan. '38 As a condition to the obligations under the plan of
Genesco, Prudential, and the underwriters, the acceptance of the
plan by 80 percent of the debenture holders was to be obtained.
Acceptance by the debenture holder was to be manifested by the
conversion of his debentures into Leeds' common stock or sale of the
debentures to the underwriters, who then would convert them.

A letter was mailed to the Leeds' shareholders and debenture
holders that explained the refinancing plan and the events leading
to the plan's adoption; the letter did not mention, however, the
potential liabilities concerning the debenture offering.39 The plan
ultimately was accepted by the debenture holders.

The plaintiffs, common shareholders of Leeds, first sought re-
lief against Leeds' management and the defendant underwriters
under rule 10b-5 based on the false financial statements published
by Leeds. The plaintiffs allegedly had relied on these statements
and purchased Leeds' stock in a market artificially inflated by the
statements. 0 By its language rule 10b-5 requires that the prohibited
conduct be "in connection with the purchase or sale"'" of securities;
the district court held this requirement to be satisfied only by a
showing of privity between the plaintiff and defendant. The court,
speaking through Judge Clark, noted that the privity requirement

section 14(a) claim, see text accompanying notes 112-16 infra. For a discussion of the court's
disposition of the section 14(e) claim, see text accompanying notes 139-46 infra.

38. 492 F.2d at 755.
39. Id. at 756.
40. Id. at 757.
41. 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5 (1974).
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announced by the Second Circuit in Joseph v. Farnsworth Radio &
Television Corp." subsequently had been overruled in that circuit
in Heit v. Weitzen.1" Other circuits also had rejected the imposition
of a required showing of privity." According to Judge Clark, the
Fifth Circuit had not previously decided the question.45 The court,
however, did rely on certain of its own language in Herpich v.
Wallace" to reach its decision. Concerning Herpich, the court
stated:

Using the guidance of our notes in Herpich and the policy
behind section 10(b) and rule 10b-5, we hold that a 10b-5 plaintiff
does not have to allege privity or any contemporaneous market
trading by the plaintiff and defendant to state a claim for relief.47

Judge Clark emphasized the need for private enforcement of
rule 10b-5 and observed that requiring a showing of privity would
render the rule useless in cases like the one under consideration.4 8

As to the future of privity in 10b-5 litigation in the Fifth Circuit,
the court stated:

Privity may be a factor in the establishment of a causal connection
between the defendant's conduct which assertedly violates rule
10b-5 and the plaintiff's injury, and it may determine the availa-
bility to the plaintiff of a remedy such as recision [sic] or restitu-
tion . . . . However, the requisite causal connection can also be
established by pleading and proving a nexus between plaintiff and
defendant other than through privity.'1

The court then addressed the underwriters' contention that
because of their limited participation in the publication of the false
financial information, a higher degree of scienter must be shown to
hold them liable. The court reiterated its holding in Smallwood °

that something more than mere negligence is required to impose

42. 99 F. Supp. 701 (S.D.N.Y. 1951), aff'd, 198 F.2d 883 (2d Cir. 1952).
43. 402 F.2d 909 (2d Cir. 1968), cert. denied, 395 U.S 903 (1969).
44. See Mitchell v. Texas Gulf Sulphur Co., 446 F.2d 90 (10th Cir.), cert. denied, 404

U.S. 1004 (1971), rehearing denied, 404 U.S. 1064 (1972); Texas Continental Life Ins. Co. v.
Dunne, 307 F.2d 242 (6th Cir. 1962).

45. Sargent v. Genesco, Inc., 492 F.2d 750, 760 (5th Cir. Apr.,1974).
46. 430 F.2d 792 (5th Cir. 1970).
47. Sargent v. Genesco, Inc., 492 F.2d 750, 760 (5th Cir. Apr.,1974).
48. Id.
49. Id. at 761.
50. Smallwood v. Pearl Brewing Co., 489 F.2d 579, 606 (5th Cir. Feb.,1974), cert.

denied, 42 U.S.L.W. 3212 (U.S. Oct. 15, 1974).
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10b-5 liability,5 but found that the plaintiffs' complaint alleged a
sufficient degree of culpability on the part of the underwriters."

The plaintiffs also asserted the refinancing plan and the events
leading to its adoption as 10b-5 violations because of inadequate
disclosure to the common shareholders of the purposes of the plan
in the letter to the shareholders. The plaintiffs alleged that they
"held" their stock in Leeds "in reliance upon the 'misstatements
and omissions' connected with the plan."5 Also, the plaintiffs
showed that because of the plan, their equity interest was so diluted
that their shares were now virtually worthless. The district court
dismissed the 10b-5 claim on the ground that, not being purchasers
or sellers of securities in connection with the alleged fraudulent
activity, the plaintiffs lacked standing to sue under rule 10b-5.

The Fifth Circuit first expressly rejected the plaintiffs' conten-
tion that the Supreme Court's decisions in Superintendent of Insur-
ance v. Bankers Life & Casualty Co.54 and Affiliated Ute Citizens
v. United States55 had overruled the Birnbaum purchaser-seller re-
quirement for standing to sue.5" The court then stated, "To elimi-
nate any doubt, we expressly reaffirm the vitality of the purchaser-
seller requirement in this circuit. .... .1

The plaintiffs then argued that the issuance of the new shares
under the refinancing plan and the resulting dilution of their equity
interests placed them in the position of "forced sellers" within the
doctrine announced in Vine v. Beneficial Finance Corp." The court
advanced two bases for rejecting the plaintiffs' position. Relying on
its own decision in Wolf v. Frank,5" the court held that "although
dilution of equity may be an appropriate measure of damages, such
dilution does not confer standing.""0 The court also pointed to the
Smallwood decision and its reliance"' on the "forced seller" test
formulated in Dudley v. Southeastern Factor & Finance Corp. 2

51. Sargent v. Genesco, Inc., 492 F.2d 750, 761 (5th Cir. Apr.,1974).
52. Id.
53. Id. at 762.
54. 404 U.S. 6 (1971).
55. 406 U.S. 128 (1972).
56. Sargent v. Genesco, Inc., 492 F.2d 750, 763 (5th Cir. Apr.,1974).
57. Id. at 764.
58. 374 F.2d 627 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 389 U.S. 970 (1967).
59. 477 F.2d 467 (5th Cir. 1973).
60. Sargent v, Genesco, Inc., 492 F.2d 750, 765 (5th Cir. Apr.,1974).
61. Smallwood v. Pearl Brewing Co., 489 F.2d 579, 594 (5th Cir. Feb.,1974), cert.

denied, 42 U.S.L.W. 3212 (U.S. Oct. 15, 1974).
62. 446 F.2d 303 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 404 U.S. 858 (1971).
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Because the plaintiffs continued to hold an interest in a "going
enterprise," they fell without the test announced in Dudley. 3

With respect to the plaintiffs' claim to derivative standing to
sue, Judge Clark noted that even assuming that Leeds' exchange of
stock for debentures made Leeds a seller, the complaint was insuffi-
cient to state a derivative claim for relief because no injury to Leeds
was alleged. 4 The court took note of the depressed price of Leeds'
stock, "but a depressed price is, without more, a shareholder in-
jury."

65

After its extensive opinions in Smallwood and Sargent, the
Fifth Circuit again dealt briefly with rule 10b-5 in Vohs v. Dickson."
In deciding to amplify its statement in Smallwood and Sargent that
mere negligence is not sufficient to impose liability under 10b-5, the
court expressly approved the scienter standard adopted by the Sec-
ond Circuit in Cohen v. Franchard Corp. 7 The Second Circuit for-
mulated the standard as follows:

The standard for determining liability under Rule 10b-5 essentially
is whether plaintiff has established that defendant either knew the
material facts that were misstated or omitted and should have
realized their significance, or failed or refused to ascertain and
disclose such facts when they were readily available to him and he
had reasonable grounds to believe that they existed.6

Although this standard adds some definition to the Fifth Circuit's
prior statements on the scienter question, even the court concedes
that the standard may be extremely difficult to apply to the facts
of a close case.6

The other critical issue in Vohs turned on the degree of reliance
by the plaintiff required for recovery under 10b-5. With regard to
the Supreme Court's statement in Affiliated Ute Citizens that "...
positive proof of reliance is not a prerequisite to recovery,"7 the
court reiterated its holding in a prior decision:

[A]s we explained in Simon v. Merrill, Lynch, Pierce, Fenner &
Smith, Inc., 482 F.2d 880 (5th Cir. 1973), this language must be

63. Sargent v. Genesco, Inc., 492 F.2d 750, 765 (5th Cir. Apr.,1974).
64. Id.
65. Id.
66. 495 F.2d 607 (5th Cir. June,1974).
67. 478 F.2d 115 (2d Cir. 1973).
68. Id. at 123.
69. 495 F.2d at 622.
70. Affiliated Ute Citizens v. United States, 406 U.S. 128, 153 (1972).
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confined to making proof of specific reliance on particular omis-
sions unnecessary when the circumstances indicate that the plain-
tiff placed some general reliance upon the defendant's disclosing
material information. 71

2. The Statute of Limitations Under Section 10(b) & Rule 10b-5

Related to the substantive issues under rule 10b-5 is the ques-
tion of the appropriate limitation period applicable to claims arising
under the rule. Prior to this term the Fifth Circuit apparently has
avoided any definitive pronouncement on the appropriate statute of
limitations applicable to actions brought under section 10(b) and
rule 10b-5.72 Accordingly, confusion has prevailed among the district
courts within the Circuit as to whether the limitation period under
the forum state's fraud statute or blue-sky statute should apply.73

The Seventh74 and Eighth7" Circuits have chosen to apply the limita-
tion period under the forum state's blue-sky statute. The Ninth76

and Tenth77 Circuits, however, have opted for the period applicable
to state law fraud actions.

The Fifth Circuit again avoided a decision on the question in
Sargent v. Genesco, Inc. 7 The case involved a derivative class ac-
tion originally filed in the Southern District of New York. Had the
action remained there, the 6-year statute of limitations applicable
to 10b-5 actions brought in a New York forum would have applied. 71

The action, however, was transferred under 28 U.S.C. § 1404(a) to

71. Vohs v. Dickson, 495 F.2d 607, 622 (5th Cir. June,1974).
72. See, e.g., Wolf v. Frank, 477 F.2d 467 (5th Cir. 1973); Aboussie v. Aboussie, 441 F.2d

150 (5th Cir. 1971); Bailes v. Colonia Press, Inc., 444 F.2d 1241 (5th Cir. 1971); Azalea Meats,
Inc. v. Muscat, 386 F.2d 5 (5th Cir. 1967).

73. For cases in which district courts within the Fifth Circuit have applied the limita-
tion period under the forum state's fraud statute, see, e.g., Beefy Trail, Inc. v. Beefy King
Int'l, Inc., 348 F. Supp. 799 (M.D. Fla. 1972); Sargent v. Genesco, Inc., 352 F. Supp. 66 (M.D.
Fla.), aff'd per curiam, 458 F.2d 9 (5th Cir. 1972); Weiser v. Schwartz, 286 F. Supp. 389 (E.D.
La. 1968).

For cases in which district courts within the Circuit have held the limitation period under
the forum state's blue-sky statute applicable, see, e.g., Josef's v. Southern Inv. Co., 349 F.
Supp. 1057 (S.D. Fla. 1972); Richardson v. Salinas, 336 F. Supp. 997 (N.D. Tex. 1972);
Carpenter v. Hall, 311 F. Supp. 1099 (S.D. Tex. 1970).

74. E.g., Parrent v. Midwest Rug Mills, Inc., 455 F.2d.123 (7th Cir. 1972).
75. Vanderboom v. Sexton, 422 F.2d 1233 (8th Cir.), cert. denied, 400 U.S. 852 (1970).
76. Douglass v. Glenn E. Hinton Inv., Inc., 440 F.2d 912 (9th Cir. 1971).
77. Mitchell v. Texas Gulf Sulphur Co., 446 F.2d 90 (10th Cir.), cert. denied, 404 U.S.

1004 (1971), rehearing denied, 404 U.S. 1064 (1972).
78. 492 F.2d 750 (5th Cir. Apr.,1974).
79. Id. at 758.
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the Middle District of Florida. Judge Clark noted that when an
action is transferred pursuant to section 1404(a), the transfer is in
effect merely a change of courtrooms, and therefore, the transferee
forum must apply the state law, including the limitation period,
that would have been applied by the transferor court." Therefore,
along with the transfer of the case to Florida came New York's 6-
year limitation period. Because of this result, the court was not
required to address itself to the defendant's contention that the 2-
year limitation period under Florida's blue-sky law should apply.
The court's avoidance of a determination on the precise question
raised by the defendant's contention, however, was short-lived.

Later in the term in two companion cases, Hudak v. Economic
Research Analysts, Inc."s and O'Connell v. Economic Research Ana-
lysts, Inc.," the court again was faced with the problem of whether
to adopt the limitation period applicable to the Florida blue-sky
statute or the period applicable to fraud actions brought within that
state. The court in Hudak, speaking through Judge Goldberg, stated
that Judge Clark in Sargent had set forth the proper analysis for
determining the limitation period applicable to private actions
under section 10(b) and rule 10b-5.83 In that opinion Judge Clark
observed that the federal securities laws do not provide a limitation
period for actions under section 10(b) and rule 10b-5, and addition-
ally, that there is no federal law provision for a general statute of
limitations for civil actions. 4 Accordingly, "the limitation period
which the forum statute applies to the state remedy which bears the
closest substantive resemblance to rule 10b-5 and which best effec-
tuates its purpose is to be applied." 85

With the foregoing guidelines in mind, Judge Goldberg in
Hudak addressed himself to the defendant's contention that the
section of the Florida blue-sky laws dealing with fraudulent transac-
tions in securities so embodied the policies underlying section 10(b)
and rule 10b-5 that the 2-year limitation period applicable in suits
to rescind sales violating that statute should apply to 10b-5 actions
brought in Florida."8 In agreeing with the defendant, the court
pointed to the similarity between the elements necessary to prove a

80. Id.
81. 499 F.2d 996 (5th Cir. Aug.,1974).
82. 499 F.2d 994 (5th Cir. Aug.,1974).
83. Hudak v. Economic Research Analysts, Inc., 499 F.2d 996, 999 (5th Cir. Aug.,1974).
84. Sargent v. Genesco, Inc., 492 F.2d 750, 758 (5th Cir. Apr.,1974).
85. Id.
86. Hudak v. Economic Research Analysts, Inc., 499 F.2d 996, 999 (5th Cir. Aug.,1974).
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cause of action under rule 10b-5 and those necessary under the
Florida blue-sky fraud statute and the dissimilarity of both to the
elements required in a Florida common law fraud action. 7 Under
both rule 10b-5 and the Florida blue-sky fraud statute, the tradi-
tional requirement of showing scienter on the part of the defendant
has been relaxed. The court observed that the development in this
area under the Florida statute had been quite comparable to the
same development in the Fifth Circuit. As evidence of this similar-
ity, Judge Goldberg noted that the Florida courts had not abrogated
totally any required showing of culpability, nor had they held that
mere negligence would suffice to establish liability under the blue-
sky fraud statute.8 Earlier in this term, the Fifth Circuit had held
similarly that "some culpability, beyond mere negligence, is re-
quired" to hold a defendant liable under rule 10b-5.19 In light of the
similarity in both language and interpretation between the Florida
blue-sky fraud statute and rule 10b-5, the court concurred with
commentators who had referred to the Florida statute as "the mirror
image of Rule 10b-5."9 Accordingly, the court concluded that the
district court had erred in applying the 3-year limitation period
applicable to common law fraud actions in Florida." The plaintiff's
action, therefore, was barred by the 2-year limitation period applic-
able to the Florida blue-sky statute. Relying on its reasoning and
holding in Hudak, the court reached the same conclusion in the
companion case, O'Connell v. Economic Research Analysts, Inc. 2

Although confusion has existed in the Circuit concerning the
applicable state law limitation period, the rule as to when the limi-
tation period begins to run appears quite clear. Judge Clarik in
Sargent reiterated the Fifth Circuit's position that the question is
one of federal law and that "a 10b-5 claim accrues when the plaintiff
actually discovers the alleged fraud."93 Judge Clark regarded the
rule as well settled and cited two prominent earlier cases for sup-
port. 4

87. Id. at 1000.
88. Id.
89. Id., citing Smallwood v. Pearl Brewing Co., 489 F.2d 579, 606 (5th Cir. Feb.,1974);

see text accompanying note 36 supra.
90. Hudak v. Economic Research Analysts, Inc., 499 F.2d 996, 999-1000 (5th Cir.

Aug., 1974).
91. Id. at 1000.
92. 499 F.2d 994, 995-96 (5th Cir. Aug.,1974).
93. 492 F.2d at 758.
94. Id., citing Hooper v. Mountain States Securities Corp., 282 F.2d 195, 200 (5th Cir.),

cert. denied, 365 U.S. 814 (1960); Azalea Meats, Inc. v. Muscat, 386 F.2d 5, 8 (5th Cir. 1967).
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B. Section 14(a)

To examine the work of the Fifth Circuit in the area of proxy
regulation, it is necessary to return to the court's decisions in
Smallwood v. Pearl Brewing Co.95 and Sargent v. Genesco." In both
cases the court was required to deal with the difficult factual ques-
tion of when a communication to shareholders should be considered
as within the regulatory scope of section 14(a) of the 1934 Act. 7

Additionally, the Smallwood case raised an issue that also hinges
on a sometimes difficult factual analysis-the adequacy of disclo-
sure in a proxy statement.

The plaintiff in Smallwood contended that the letter of July 17
describing the merger agreement to the shareholders was a proxy
solicitation and thus should have been accompanied by a proxy
statement as required in rule 14a-3(a)." The court, through Judge
Wisdom, recognized that even though a communication contains no
formal request for a proxy, it nevertheless may be considered a
solicitation under rule 14a-l(f)" as made "under circumstances rea-
sonably calculated to result in the procurement, withholding, or
revocation of a proxy."''00

As emphasized by the court, there is a strong need to regulate
"the ability of interested parties to color the issue prior to the disclo-
sure of complete information as required in a proxy statement."'' °

On the other hand, the court pointed to the need for prompt disclo-
sure of important corporate information before a formal proxy state-
ment can be prepared and distributed.'"' Accordingly, the disclosure
of recent events to shareholders, in the view of the court, should not
be scrutinized as carefully as similar disclosures made some time
after the event.0 3 Judge Wisdom also noted that the proximity of
the disclosure to the time of actual proxy solicitation is an impor-
tant factor in determining whether the disclosure itself should be
deemed a solicitation. 4 Upon balancing these considerations, the

95. 489 F.2d 579 (5th Cir. Feb.,1974), cert. denied, 42 U.S.L.W. 3212 (U.S. Oct. 15,
1974).

96. 492 F.2d 750 (5th Cir. Apr.,1974).
97. Securities Exchange Act § 14(a), 15 U.S.C. § 78n(a) (1970).
98. 17 C.F.R. § 240.14a-3(a) (1974).
99. 17 C.F.R. § 240.14a-l(f) (1974).
100. 489 F.2d at 600.
101. Id.
102. Id. at 600-01.
103. Id. at 601.
104. Id.
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court found that the letter of July 17 could not be considered a
solicitation under rule 14a- 1(f).' 05

Judge Wisdom then addressed the plaintiff's contention that
the proxy materials of August 12 violated rule 14a-9(a),1 6 which
prohibits misleading statements and material omissions in proxy
statements. The plaintiff first argued that Pearl's right to waive
Southdown's obligation to obtain an underwriting commitment was
disclosed inadequately. The court noted that the waiver power was
mentioned in the merger agreement, which was attached to the
proxy statement and referred to several times in the statement. The
court was sympathetic to the difficult decision of what to emphasize
in a proxy statement. 07 Clearly it is impossible to emphasize every-
thing. In concluding that under the circumstances the waiver power
was adequately disclosed, the court stated:

We require those who draw up proxy statements to be fair and
sensitive to the needs of shareholders in exercising their rights of
corporate suffrage. But we do not require that the writers of proxy
statements be clairvoyant. A fact essential for a shareholder deci-
sion today may become irrelevant tomorrow, and vice versa. It is
enough that proxy statements be complete and not misleading in
light of the circumstances existent and reasonably anticipated at
the time distributed.'01

On the question of the materiality of an omission in the proxy
statement, the court rejected the plaintiff's contention that the trial
court had erred when instructing the jury that the test of materiality
is "whether a reasonably prudent person would attach importance
to the information in determining his course of action."'' ° The court
considered as inadvertent the Supreme Court's use of the word
"might" rather than "would" in Mills v. Electric Auto-Lite Co."1
and Affiliated Ute Citizens v. United States."'

The Fifth Circuit in Sargent again confronted the question of
whether a communication to shareholders was a solicitation of a
proxy under section 14(a). The plaintiff asserted that the letter of
September 18 informing the Leeds shareholders of the proposed

105. Id.
106. 17 C.F.R. § 240.14a-9(a) (1974).
107. 489 F.2d at 602.
108. Id.
109. Id. at 603.
110. 396 U.S. 375, 384 (1970).
111. 406 U.S. 128, 153-54 (1972).
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refinancing plan was subject to regulation under that section. As
Judge Clark observed, the question was an unusual one because no
shareholder approval of the plan was ever requested, and under
state law there was no provision requiring shareholder approval or
affording appraisal rights to the common shareholders in such a
situation."' The court, however, rejected the defendant's contention
that "in absence of some allegation of infringement upon corporate
suffrage rights or some corporate action taken as a result of such
infringement, no cause of action under section 14(a) has been made
out."" 3 The court reasoned that the communication could have been
designed to discourage the common shareholders from attempting
to block the plan through the exercise of their rights as shareholders.
As to whether the letter could have been a solicitation of a "proxy"
as defined in rule 14a-1,"4 the court pointed out that the rule pro-
vides that the term "includes any proxy, consent or authorization
within the meaning of section 14(a) .. .""' The rule also provides
that "[t]he consent or authorization may take the form of a failure
to object or to dissent." The court again focused on the possible
motive of the defendants to persuade the shareholders to refrain
from asserting their rights to block the refinancing plan "through
corporate or judicial action" to find that the communication could
have been a solicitation of a "proxy" under section 14(a)." 6

C. Section 14(e)

In 1968 Congress passed legislation popularly known as the Wil-
liams Act."7 The Act added sections 13(d) and (e) and 14(d), (e),
and (f) to the 1934 Act. The express purpose of the Act was to
protect investors by providing for full and fair disclosure in connec-
tion with stock acquisitions by persons seeking control of the corpo-
ration in which the investor had invested."8 Of the new provisions,
section 14(e)" a appears destined to have the greatest impact in the

112. Sargent v. Genesco, Inc., 492 F.2d 750, 767 (5th Cir. Apr.,1974).
113. Id.
114. 17 C.F.R. § 240.14a-1 (1974).
115. Sargent v. Genesco, Inc., 492 F.2d 750, 766 (5th Cir. Apr.,1974).
116. Id. at 768.
117. Pub. L. No. 90-439, 82 Stat. 454 (1968), amending 15 U.S.C. §§ 78m-n (1964)(codi-

fied at 15. U.S.C. §§ 78m(d)-(e), n(d)-(f) (Supp. V, 1965-69)), as amended, 15 U.S.C. §§
78m(d)-(e), n(d)-(f) (1970).

118. E.g., S. RFP. No. 550, 90th Cong., 1st Sess. 2 (1967); H.R. RP. No. 1711, 90th
Cong., 2d Sess. 1 (1968), reprinted in U.S. CODE CONG. & AD. NEWS 2811 (1968).

119. 15 U.S.C. § 78n(e) (1970).
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area of securities litigation; in fact, it has been speculated that
section 14(e) ultimately will breed as much litigation as rule 10b-
5.10 In essence, section 14(e) prohibits fraudulent activity in connec-
tion with a tender offer. Although the language of the section vir-
tually tracks the language of rule 10b-5,'2' noticeably absent from
section 14(e) is the rule 10b-5 phrase, "in connection with the pur-
chase or sale of any security." Because of this omission and the
otherwise similar language of section 14(e) and rule 10b-5, both
courts 22 and commentators'2' have observed that the major contri-
bution of section 14(e) is a broader standing to sue than is permissi-
ble under rule 10b-5 as interpreted in Birnbaum v. Newport Steel
Corp. 124 The final determination of the scope of this broader stand-
ing to sue, as well as other unanswered questions under section
14(e), must await further litigation and judicial development. This
past term, however, the Fifth Circuit did provide some insight as
to what its attitude would be toward this relatively new antifraud
provision. To summarize the court's treatment of section 14(e), it
is necessary to re-examine the decisions in Smallwood v. Pearl
Brewing Co. 5 and Sargent v. Genesco, Inc. 2

1

In Smallwood Judge Wisdom began the analysis of the plain-
tiff's 14(e) claim by holding that "a private plaintiff need not be a
purchaser or a seller of any securities" to bring an action under
section 14(e).'2 7 According to the court, "under Section 14(e) a plain-

120. Comment, Tender Offers, Creeping Acquisitions and the Williams Act, 2 CUM.
SAM. L. REv. 402, 419 (1971).

121. 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5 (1974).
122. E.g., Chris-Craft Indus., Inc. v. Piper Aircraft Corp., 480 F.2d 341, 361 (2d Cir.),

cert. denied, 414 U.S. 910 (1973).
123. E.g., E. ARANow & H. EINHORN, TENDER OFFERs FOR CORPORATE CONTROL 118-19

(1973); 1 A. BROMBERG, SECURMES LAW: FRAuD-SEC RULE 10b-5 § 6.3(1010), at 122.16-17
(1973); Brown, The Scope of the Williams Act and Its 1970 Amendments, 26 Bus. LAW. 1637,
1646 (1971); Comment, Tender Offers, Creeping Acquisitions and the Williams Act, 2 CUM.
SAM. L. REv. 402, 415 (1971).

For a discussion of the question of standing to sue under section 14(e), see Comment,
Tender Offers: An Analysis of the Early Development of Standing to Sue Under Section 14(e),
5 TEX. TECH L. REv. 779 (1974).

124. 193 F.2d 461 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 343 U.S. 956 (1952).
125. 489 F.2d 579 (5th Cir. Feb.,1974), cert. denied, 42 U.S.L.W. 3212 (U.S. Oct. 15,

1974).
126. 492 F.2d 750 (5th Cir. Apr.,1974).
127. 489 F.2d at 596. Although section 14(e) does not provide for enforcement through

a private cause of action, Judge Wisdom felt that the Fifth Circuit had at least impliedly
recognized such a cause of action in Susquehanna Corp. v. Pan Am. Sulphur Co., 423 F.2d
1075 (5th Cir. 1970). To eliminate any doubt, the court explicitly recognized the right of a
private plaintiff to seek relief under section 14(e). 489 F.2d at 596.
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tiff may gain standing if he has been injured by fraudulent activities
of others perpetrated in connection with a tender offer, whether or
not he has tendered his shares."'' s The court also recognized the
possibility of a nontendering shareholder suing derivatively for an
injury to the target corporation.'29 Thus, it seemed clear to the court
that the plaintiff had standing to sue for any provable 14(e) viola-
tions in connection with the Southdown-Pearl merger.

The pivotal issue concerning the plaintiff's 14(e) claim was
whether the letter of November 18 from Southdown to Pearl's share-
holders was a tender offer or a "request or invitation for tenders"
within the meaning of the Williams Act. Although there is no defini-
tion of a "tender offer" in the Act, according to the court

[t]here is general agreement that a tender offer involves a public
invitation to a corporation's shareholders to purchase their stock
for a specified consideration, and there is some common recogni-
tion of typical ingredients in transactions generally accepted to be
tender offers.'3 0

The court conceded, however, that there was no clear agreement on
whether "a tender offer must be a 'hostile bid opposed by incum-
bent management.' "'I" A review of the legislative history of the
Williams Act indicated that initial support for the Act was
prompted by the desire to protect uninformed investors from "take-
over bids" by so-called "corporate raiders."'' Notwithstanding this
historical background, the court refused to confine the definition of
"tender offer" to contested takeover attempts. In the court's view
Congress purposely left the term undefined to allow the develop-
ment of a definition on a case-by-case basis. 3 ' Also, the securities
laws must be interpreted broadly in accordance with their remedial
purpose; the primary purpose of the Williams Act was investor pro-
tection. The target shareholder would appear in greater need of
protection when the tender offer is uncontested and the target man-
agement is on friendly terms with the offeror than when the man-

128. 489 F.2d at 596.
129. Id.
130. Id. at 596-97. For a summary of these "typical ingredients" as the court viewed

them, see 489 F.2d at 597 n.22.
For a thorough discussion of this definitional problem, see Note, The Developing Mean-

ing of "Tender Offer" Under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 86 HAIv. L. REv. 1250
(1972).

131. 489 F.2d at 597.
132. Id.
133. Id. at 598.
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agement is hostile to the offeror's takeover bid.'34 Finally, the court
looked to the other provisions of the Williams Act to support its
finding that Congress intended to include friendly tender offers
within the purview of the Act. The court stated its holding on the
question as follows:

We hold, therefore, that a bid to purchase securities is no less a
"tender offer" within the meaning of Section 14(e) when it is unop-
posed by management of the target company than when it is op-
posed. '3

The defendant also argued that because neither Southdown nor
Pearl sought to purchase securities, the letter of November 18 could
not constitute a tender offer. Also, even though Zapata made the
ultimate purchase, it made no "tender offer" to purchase the securi-
ties. The court refused to allow such a circumvention of section 14(e)
and held that the section imposes no requirement "that the person
or company inviting the tenders makes the ultimate purchase."'3

Regardless of whether the offeror makes the offer for his own benefit
or for the benefit of another, the need to protect the shareholder who
is required to make the investment decision remains the same. The
court thus concluded that the letter of November 18 was a tender
offer within the meaning of the Williams Act.

On the question of 14(e) liability, the court held that the ana-
lyses required under section 14(e) and rule 10b-5 are directly paral-
lel.

Congress adopted in Section 14(e) the substantive language of the
second paragraph of Rule 10b-5 and in so doing accepted the prece-
dential baggage those words have carried over the years ...
Once standing is established, therefore, the analysis under Section
14(e) and Rule 10b-5 is identical.'37

After reaching the above conclusion, the court proceeded to treat
the plaintiffs 10b-5 and 14(e) claims together.' 3

1

The Fifth Circuit in Sargent v. Genesco, Inc. ,31 again was pre-

134. Id.
135. Id. The court rejected the defendant's contention that the District Court of Maine

in Dyer v. Eastern Trust & Banking Co., 336 F. Supp. 890 (D. Me. 1971) held that friendly
tender offers do not fall within section 14(e).

136. 489 F.2d at 599.
137. Id. at 605.
138. Accordingly, see text accompanying notes 31-36 supra.
139. 492 F.2d 750 (5th Cir. Apr.,1974).
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sented with an opportunity to elaborate on the definition of the term
"tender offer," but because of its holding on the standing issue, the
court was not required to reach the question. The plaintiffs con-
tended, and the court assumed for purposes of analysis, that the
letter of September 18 to Leeds' shareholders and debenture holders
was a section 14(e) "solicitation of security holders. . . in favor of"
a tender offer. 140

On the standing question, Judge Clark stated preliminarily:

In determining who has standing to sue under 14(e), the quest has
been for what will best further the objective of the statute. Conse-
quently, the right to bring suit has not been limited to tendering
offerees only but has been extended to numerous other parties who
claimed to be victims of 14(e) violations.'

Notwithstanding the broad language in the above standard, the
court chose to adopt a somewhat restrictive interpretation of section
14(e). In unclear and seemingly contradictory language, the court
reasoned that the plaintiffs had no standing to sue under 14(e). The
court focused on the phrase "security holders" in the section and
determined that the phrase must be interpreted as including only
those security holders to whom the tender offer is addressed., Ap-
parently narrowing further the class of plaintiffs eligible to sue for
section 14(e) violations, the court then stated that the "evil to be
remedied [by section 14(e)] was inadequate disclosure to tendering
shareholders."' 43 This language could be construed as excluding
those shareholders who received the tender offer, but declined to
tender their shares. Judge Clark continues, however, by recognizing
that Congress by enacting section 14(e) intended to protect those
who upon receipt of a tender offer are required "to make the hold
or sell decision.' '4 4

Regardless of how the court's determination of the proper class
of plaintiffs under 14(e) is interpreted, the opinion was very explicit
in holding that the plaintiffs were outside the class sought to be
protected by the section.' The plaintiffs were common sharehold-
ers, and the court apparently viewed as determinative the absence

140. Id. at 768-69.
141. Id. at 769.
142. Id.
143. Id.
144. Id.
145. Id. at 769-70.
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of an allegation of inadequate disclosure to the debenture holders.'46

Impliedly, therefore, the court considered the Leeds debenture
holders as the class to be protected by section 14(e) under the cir-
cumstances of the case.

II. THE DEFINITION OF A SECURITY

The court on several occasions during this term was faced with
the guestion of whether a federal forum should be available to one
defrauded in a transaction the subject matter of which was allegedly
a "security" within the definition of the securities acts. In this re-
gard the court was required to consider promissory notes, an elabo-
rate pyramid marketing scheme, and options on commodities fu-
tures contracts. The court in each case properly demonstrated an
unswerving determination to rely ultimately on the underlying pur-
poses of the securities acts to reach its decision.

A. Promissory Notes

The question of whether a promissory note given in an ordinary
commercial context constitutes a security within the meaning of the
securities acts has confronted the federal courts on several occa-
sions. 47 Although the issue appears far from settled in the courts as
a whole, the Fifth Circuit this term clearly has established its posi-
tion that these notes fall outside the purview of the securities acts.
In a significant line of decisions, the Circuit has relied on the com-
mercial or investment character of a promissory note as the sole
criterion for determining whether it meets the federal securities law
definition of a security.

In Bellah v. First National Bank4 ' the plaintiffs had obtained
a loan from the defendant bank to finance the development of their
livestock business. Four years later the debt was still owing, and the
plaintiffs executed a 6-month promissory note, secured by a deed of
trust on certain realty, in favor of the defendant bank. The plaintiffs
alleged that on a subsequent renewal of the obligation and their
execution of another 6-month promissory note, the bank repre-
sented to them that they need not be concerned about the possibil-

146. Id. at 769.
147. For a collection and analysis of the cases dealing with the question, see Lipton &

Katz, "Notes" Are (Are Not-.) Always Securities-A Review, 29 Bus. LAW. 861 (1974);
Comment, Commercial Notes and Definition of 'Security' Under Securities Exchange Act of
1934: A Note Is a Note Is a Note?, 52 NEB. L. REv. 478 (1973).

148. 495 F.2d 1109 (5th Cir. June,1974).
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ity of foreclosure as long as all prior and superior deeds of trust on
the realty were kept current. The plaintiffs became delinquent on
the note, and the bank foreclosed and sold the real estate covered
by the deed of trust.

The plaintiffs brought an action alleging that the bank had
violated section 10(b) of the 1934 Act and rule 10b-5. The complaint
asserted the note and deed of trust as potential bases for subject
matter jurisdiction." 9 The district court treated the note and deed
of trust together and held that because they had a maturity of less
than 9 months, they fell within the exemption in the Act from the
definition of a security.1S°

Judge Gewin, writing for the Fifth Circuit, agreed with the
district court's collective treatment of the note and deed of trust and
with its conclusion that they did not constitute securities within the
meaning of the Act; his reasoning, however, differed from that of the
district court in a way that is significant. He referred to the section
of the 1934 Act that defines a security 5' and conceded that the
language exempting notes of less than 9-months maturity appears
quite absolute.'52 He continued, however, by observing that
"[d]espite the seemingly absolute mandate of this language, nu-
merous other courts have refused to ritualistically apply the sec-
tion."'53 After citing several cases to support his statement,54 Judge
Gewin said that those courts, notwithstanding the wording of the
definitional exemption, had held notes of less than a 9-month matu-
rity subject to the 1934 Act when they constituted investment paper
rather than commercial paper."' To illustrate the reasoning of those

149. Id. at 1111.
150. Id.
151. Securities Exchange Act of 1934 § 3(a)(10), 15 U.S.C. § 78c(a)(10) (1970) provides

that unless the context otherwise requires,
(10) The term "security" means any note ... but shall not include . ..any note
• . .which has a maturity at the time of issuance of not exceeding nine months,
exclusive of days of grace, or any renewal thereof the maturity of which is likewise
limited.

152. 495 F.2d at 1111.
153. Id.
154. The following cases were cited for support: See Zeller v. Bogue Elec. Mfg. Corp.,

476 F.2d 795, 800 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 414 U.S. 908 (1973); Sanders v. John Nuveen & Co.,
463 F.2d 1075, 1080 (7th Cir.), cert. denied, 409 U.S. 1009 (1972); SEC v. Vanco, Inc., 283
F.2d 304 (3d Cir. 1960), aff'g 166 F. Supp. 422, 423 (D.N.J. 1958); United States v. Hill, 298
F. Supp. 1221, 1226-27 (D. Conn. 1969); Anderson v. Francis I. duPont & Co., 291 F. Supp.
705, 708 (D. Minn. 1968); cf. United States v. Rachal, 473 F.2d 1338, 1343 (5th Cir.), cert.
denied, 412 U.S. 927 (1973).

155. 495 F.2d at 1111.
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courts, Judge Gewin pointed to the Second Circuit's opinion in
Zeller v. Bogue Electric Manufacturing Corp. :156

[Tihe mere fact that a note has a maturity of less than nine
months does not take the case out of Rule 10b-5, unless the note
fits the general notion of "commercial paper" . . . . It does not
follow . . . that every transaction within the introductory clause
of § 10, which involves promissory notes, whether of less or more
than nine months maturity, is within Rule 10b-5. The Act is for
the protection of investors, and its provisions must be read accord-
ingly. 1

57

Judge Gewin felt that the above reasoning was consistent with
the Supreme Court's statement that the antifraud securities legisla-
tion is to be construed "not technically and restrictively, but flexi-
bly to effectuate its remedial purposes."'' 8 Accordingly, the court
concluded that the exemption for short-term notes applies only to
commercial paper and not to investment paper and that the district
court had erred in relying exclusively on the maturity date of the
note in question to justify its decision.'59

After holding that it is the commercial or investment character
of a note that determines its coverage by the 1934 Act, the court
addressed itself to determining the nature of the note in question.
It held that "notes issued in the context of a commercial loan trans-
action fall beyond the purview of the Act"''  and pointed to the
undesirable consequences of a contrary holding. 6' Because of the
similarity between the 1933 and 1934 Acts, notes held subject to the
antifraud provisions of the 1934 Act also would require registration
under the 1933 Act. Requiring the registration of promissory notes
issued in an ordinary commercial loan situation "would inevitably
wreak havoc on the commercial paper market." Also, the court
doubted that Congress by enacting the 1933 and 1934 Acts intended
"to render federal judges the guardians of all beguiled makers or
payees." It observed that state court is the proper forum for com-
plaints arising out of ordinary commercial loan transactions. Be-
cause the bank extended its loan and accepted the plaintiffs' note

156. 476 F.2d 795 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 414 U.S. 908 (1973).
157. Id. at 800.
158. SEC v. Capital Gains Research Bureau, Inc., 375 U.S. 180, 195 (1963).
159. Bellah v. First Nat'l Bank, 495 F.2d 1109, 1112 (5th Cir. June,1974).
160. Id. at 1114.
161. Id.
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solely to aid the plaintiffs in the operation of their business and
without any intent to realize a profit from the successful operation
of the business, the court rejected the plaintiffs' claim that the note
and deed of trust were securities. 6 2

The application of the commercial-investment standard led the
Circuit to a contrary result in SEC v. Continental Commodities
Corp.6 In the facts surrounding this decision, Continental Com-
modities Corporation, along with its president and a related part-
nership, Continental Commodities Trading Company, were en-
gaged in the sale to investors of options on commodities futures
contracts. The West Coast Commodities Exchange ruled that such
options were securities, and accordingly, the California Commis-
sioner of Corporations suspended their trading until registration was
effected, and required in the meantime that Continental Commodi-
ties take action to satisfy disappointed customers. Upon notice of
the trading suspension, Continental Commodities partially reim-
bursed some of its customers by issuing non-interest bearing prom-
issory notes with a maturity of less than 9 months. As a condition
precedent to the issuance of the notes, Continental Commodities
required from each customer a promise of forebearance from legal
action as long as the note payments were timely made. The SEC in
its complaint sought to enjoin alleged violations of the registration
provisions of the 1933 Act and the antifraud provisions of the 1934
Act. The SEC contended that, as bases for jurisdiction, both the
trading in discretionary commodities accounts and the promissory
notes were securities within the federal securities laws.

Because the notes issued by Continental Commodities were of
a maturity of less than 9 months, the court was required to deter-
mine whether the notes fell within the registration exemption of the
1933 Act'64 and the definitional exemption of the 1934 Act. 5 As a
necessary prerequisite to such a determination, however, it was nec-
essary to decide whether the notes were securities and, thus,
whether they even were subject to regulation under the Acts.

162. Id.
163. 497 F.2d 516 (5th Cir. July,1974).
164. Securities Act of 1933 § 3(a)(3), 15 U.S.C. § 77c(a)(3) (1970) provides for an

exemption from the registration provisions of the Act as follows:
(3) Any note, draft, bill of exchange, or bankers' acceptance which arises out of a
current transaction or the proceeds of which have been or are to be used for current
transactions, and which has a maturity at the time of issuance of not exceeding nine
months, exclusive of days of grace, or any renewal thereof the maturity of which is
likewise limited.
165. See note 151 supra.
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In his analysis of the question, Judge Gewin treated the defini-
tions of a security under the 1933 and 1934 Acts as virtually identi-
cal. 8 Relying on the 1973 Fifth Circuit decision in United States v.
Rachal67 and its decision under the 1934 Act in Bellah,68 the court
held that "the Acts' exemptions for notes extend only to commercial
paper, not investment paper;"' 9 "it is the character of the note, not
its maturity date, which determines coverage under both the regis-
tration provisions of the Securities Act of 1933, and the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934.' ' 7

0

As guidelines for determining whether the notes issued by Con-
tinental Commodities were of a commercial or investment charac-
ter, Judge Gewin set out four characteristics of commercial paper
outlined in an earlier SEC release. "These factors are that the notes
are (1) of prime quality; (2) used to finance current transactions; (3)
not offered to the public; and (4) discountable at a Federal Reserve
Bank."'' 7' The court refused to base its decision solely on these fac-
tors, but noted that, in view of Continental Commodities' financial
condition, the notes in question failed to fall within the four com-
mercial paper criteria. In its determination of the character of the
notes, the court's primary inquiry involved discerning the nature of
the transaction underlying their issuance. Analogizing the facts sur-
rounding the issuance of the notes by Continental Commodities to
the situation in Zeller v. Bogue Electric Manufacturing Corp. , 71

Judge Gewin found the notes under discussion to be of an invest-
ment, rather than a commercial, nature.173 It was clear to the court
that "the notes were issued to rejuvenate and not to liquidate
[Continental Commodities].' '7  Those who were issued the notes
accepted them in hopes that Continental Commodities could be
revived and the potential return on their investments would thereby
be increased.

As an additional jurisdictional prerequisite, the court had to
decide whether the issuance of the notes by Continental Commodi-
ties constituted a sale. Judge Gewin observed that under these cir-

166. 497 F.2d at 520.
167. 473 F.2d 1338 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 412 U.S. 927 (1973).
168. Bellah v. First Nat'l Bank, 495 F.2d 1109 (5th Cir. June,1974).
169. SEC v. Continental Commodities Corp., 497 F.2d 516, 524 (5th Cir. July,1974).
170. Id. at 525.
171. Id.
172. 476 F.2d 795 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 414 U.S. 908 (1973).
173. SEC v. Continental Commodities Corp., 497 F.2d 516, 527 (5th Cir. July,1974).
174. Id.
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cumstances, the issue was one of first impression.' Nevertheless,
the court found the customers' agreement to forbear bringing legal
action sufficient to make the disposition one for value. Also, had
Continental Commodities issued the notes to members of the in-
vesting public other than its customers and used the proceeds to
discharge its indebtedness to the customers, the transaction un-
doubtedly would be deemed a sale. In the court's view, to hold that
Continental Commodities' issuance of the notes did not constitute
a sale would be to allow a circumvention of the securities acts.' 6

Accordingly, the decision of the district court was reversed.
The Fifth Circuit in McClure v. First National Bank'" was

confronted again with the contention that a commercial promissory
note is a security under the 1934 Act. The plaintiff was allegedly the
victim of a fraudulent scheme carried out by her husband and one
of the defendant bank's loan officers. She contended that, on repre-
sentations of corporate need, they had obtained her consent to a 1-
year loan from the bank to a corporation, the ownership of which
was one-half in her and one-half in her husband. The proceeds of
the loan actually were used to discharge the husband's personal
obligations to the bank. When the note went unpaid, the bank fore-
closed on the corporation's land, and the plaintiff's stock in the
corporation became worthless. The plaintiff brought an action
against the bank and its loan officer under section 10(b) and rule
10b-5, but the district court dismissed the complaint for lack of
subject matter jurisdiction.'

The primary question facing the Fifth Circuit in its jurisdic-
tional review was whether the 1-year note executed by the plaintiff
to the bank was a security within the federal securities laws. As a
preliminary observation Judge Roney stated:

Although the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 provides that the
term security means "any" note, judicial decisions have restricted
the application of the Act to those notes that are investment in
nature and have excluded those which are only reflective of indi-
vidual commercial transactions.'79

175. Id. at 528.
176. Id. at 529.
177. 497 F.2d 490 (5th Cir. July,1974).
178. McClure v. First Nat'l Bank, 352 F. Supp. 454 (N.D. Tex. 1973). For a critical

analysis of the district court decision, see Note, 5 TEX. TECH L. REV. 200 (1973).
179. 497 F.2d at 492.
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He also stated that the earlier decision by another panel of the
Circuit in Bellah5 0 clearly indicated the proper result in this case,
even though the Bellah case dealt with a note of less than 9-months
maturity and thus was concerned primarily with the exemption
language in the statutory definition of a security.

The court then proceeded to rest the decision on the familiar
investment-commercial dichotomy and observed, in that regard,
that the cases excluding promissory notes from the definition of a
security "generally involved underlying transactions between payor
and payee which were not of an investment nature."'' By way of
contrast, the cases in which promissory notes were considered secur-
ities under the securities laws involved factual indicia of the invest-
ment nature of the underlying transaction.' 2 Judge Roney viewed
those indicia as absent in this case:

First, in this case, only the Bank and [the corporation] were in-
volved in the execution of documents related to a commercial loan.
[The corporation's] notes were neither offered to some class of
investors, nor were they acquired by the Bank for speculation or
investment. "I

Second, the corporation obtained no "investment assets" for the
note, and the purpose of the loan was supposedly only to allow the
corporation to pay off its business debts.'84 Accordingly, the note
was held to be of a commercial character and thus without the
definition of a security under the federal securities laws.

Although not even hesitating in reaching this result, the court
was clearly mindful of the effect of its decision when coupled with
the Bellah decision. The language in the definitional section that
exempts short-term securities in effect had been voided.'85 The court
summed up the situation as follows:

On one hand, the Act covers all investment notes, no matter how
short their maturity, because they are not encompassed by the

180. Bellah v. First Nat'l Bank, 495 F.2d 1109 (5th Cir. June, 1974).
181. McClure v. First Nat'l Bank, 497 F.2d 490, 493 (5th Cir. July,1974); see, e.g., Lino

v. City Inv. Co., 487 F.2d 689 (3d Cir. 1973); City Nat'l Bank v. Vanderboom, 290 F. Supp.
592 (W.D. Ark. 1968), afJ'd, 422 F.2d 221 (8th Cir.), cert. denied, 399 U.S. 905 (1970).

182. McClure v. First Nat'l Bank, 497 F.2d 490, 493 (5th Cir. July,1974); see, e.g.,
Sanders v. John Nuveen & Co., 463 F.2d 1075 (7th Cir.), cert. denied, 409 U.S. 1009 (1972);
Farrell v. United States, 321 F.2d 409 (9th Cir. 1963), cert. denied, 375 U.S. 992 (1964).

183. McClure v. First Nat'l Bank, 497 F.2d 490, 493 (5th Cir. July,1974).
184. Id. at 494.
185. Id.
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"any note" language of the exemption. On the other hand, the Act
does not cover any commercial notes, no matter how long their
maturity, because they fall outside the "any note" definition of a
security. Thus, the investment or commercial nature of a note
entirely controls the applicability of the Act, depriving of all utility
the exemption based on maturity-length.' 6

The court conceded that the decision may well do violence to the
congressional intent behind the language of the statute, but stated
that precedent on the question now was such that only Congress
could take corrective action."7

B. Pyramid Marketing Schemes

As the economy of this country has expanded and become in-
creasingly more complex and sophisticated, there has been a corre-
sponding increase in the needs and desires of business promoters for
investment capital. In response to this development, the minds of
promoters have worked overtime to dream up new schemes through
which their financial desires may be satisfied. Unfortunately some
of these devices depend for their success upon the "get-rich-quick"
gullabilityll of unsophisticated investors. One such device, the pyr-
amid marketing scheme, required the attention of the Fifth Circuit
this past term.

The court in SEC v. Koscot Interplanetary, Inc."S9 again con-
fronted the question of the scope of the definition of a security under
the federal securities laws. The SEC brought an action against Kos-
cot Interplanetary, Inc. (Koscot) and sought an injunction against
alleged violations of the securities laws. In addressing the pivotal
issue, the court was required to determine whether the pyramid
promotion enterprise conducted by Koscot involved the marketing
of investment contracts and thus fell within the definitions of a
security found in the 1933 and 1934 Acts. 10 If so, the plan would

186. Id. at 494-95.
187. Id. at 495.
188. Comment, Pyramid Marketing Plans and Consumer Protection: State and Federal

Regulation, 21 J. PUB. L. 445 (1972).
189. 497 F.2d 473 (5th Cir. July,1974).

190. Id. at 474-75. The relevant definition under the Securities Act of 1933 is found in
section 2(1), 15 U.S.C. § 77(b)(1) (1970) and under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 in
section 3(a)(10), 15 U.S.C. § 78(c)(a)(10) (1970). As the court noted, the definitions are
substantially identical. 497 F.2d at 475 n.3.

For a broad treatment of the issues in this area, see, e.g., Coffey, The Economic Realities
of a "Security": Is There a More Meaningful Formula?, 18 CASE W. REs. L. REv. 367 (1967);
Long, An Attempt to Return "Investment Contracts" to the Mainstream of Securities
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have to be registered with the SEC and the method by which it was
conducted and presented to investors would have to meet the stan-
dards of the antifraud provisions in the 1934 Act. The district court,
finding that the operation of the enterprise did not constitute the
sale of a security, denied the injunction. 9' The Fifth Circuit, speak-
ing through Judge Gewin, disagreed.

To understand fully the court's disposition of the case, it is
necessary to examine in some detail the workings of the Koscot
scheme. Basically, the plan involves the solicitation of investors who
are led to expect exorbitant returns on their investment.9 ' The en-
tire operation centers around a system of distributorships estab-
lished for the purpose of promoting and selling the Koscot line of
cosmetic products. The prospective investor is given the opportun-
ity to enter the enterprise at one of three levels, each of which
requires a progressively greater initial investment. On the first level
is the "beauty advisor," who in essence is merely a distributor in
the true sense of the word; he is given the opportunity to purchase
Koscot products at a discount of 45 percent and profits by selling
those products at the retail price. At the second level, for an invest-
ment of 1,000 dollars, one who wishes to participate on a larger scale
may become a supervisor or retail manager, which entitles the
investor to receive his cosmetics at a discount of 55 percent. The
supervisor then may sell the products to beauty advisors, or he may
sell directly to the public. Also, if the supervisor is successful at
recruiting another supervisor for the Koscot operation, he is entitled
to 600 dollars of the investor's initial 1,000 dollar payment to Kos-
cot. If one should desire to participate in the operation at the third
and highest level, he may become a distributor for an investment
of 5,000 dollars, which entitles him to purchase cosmetics at a dis-
count of 65 percent. Additionally, bringing a supervisor or another
distributor into the Koscot organization yields the distributor 600
dollars or 3,000 dollars, respectively.

Of principal concern to the court in reaching its decision was
the procedure by which a prospect is enticed into the Koscot
scheme. Those who already have invested in the plan solicit pros-
pects to attend "Opportunity Meetings." These meetings, con-

Regulation, 24 OKLA. L. REv. 135 (1971); Comment, Pyramid Marketing Plans and Consumer
Protection: State and Federal Regulation, 21 J. PuB. L. 445 (1972); Note, 61 GEo. L.J. 1257
(1973); Note, 51 TEXAS L. REv. 788 (1973).

191. 365 F. Supp. 588 (N.D. Ga. 1973).
192. SEC v. Koscot Interplanetary, Inc., 497 F.2d 473, 475 (5th Cir. July,1974).
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ducted in a highly-charged atmosphere by Koscot employees, are
designed to overcome the prospects and persuade them to enlist in
the program. As the court observed:

The principal design of the meetings is to foster an illusion of
affluence. Investors and Koscot employees are instructed to drive
to meetings in expensive cars, preferably Cadillacs, to dress expen-
sively, and to flaunt large amounts of money. It is intended that
prospects will be galvanized into signing a contract by these osten-
tations displayed in the evangelical atmosphere of the meetings.
Go-Tours, characterized by similar histrionics, are designed to
achieve the same goal.9 3

Depending on the degree of reluctance of a prospect, the investor
might be required to continue his persuasive efforts to achieve a sale
after the Opportunity Meeting and Go-Tour.

After summarizing the district court's grounds for rejecting the
SEC's contention that the Koscot scheme involved the sale of a
security, the court began its analysis by stating that it disagreed
with the district court's finding that Koscot had not sold "invest-
ment contracts."' 9' The court recognized as controlling the defini-
tion of an investment contract announced by the Supreme Court in
SEC v. W. J. Howey Co. :1'

[Aln investment contract for purposes of the Securities Act
means a contract, transaction or scheme whereby a person invests
his money in a common enterprise and is led to expect profits
solely from the efforts of the promoter or a third party. .... ."

As the court viewed the definitional test, it consists of three basic
prongs: first, "an investment of money;" second, "the scheme in
which an investment is made functions as a common enterprise;"
and third, "profits are derived solely from the efforts of individuals
other than the investors." ' Because the Koscot investors partic-
pated in the operation by persuading prospects to attend the intro-
ductory meetings and by expending effort to consummate a sale, the
district court based its finding on the absence of the third element
in the Howey test. 8

193. Id. at 476.
194. Id. at 477.
195. 328 U.S. 293 (1946).
196. Id. at 298-99.
197. SEC v. Koscot Interplanetary, Inc., 497 F.2d 473, 477 (5th Cir. July,1974).
198. 365 F. Supp. 588, 591-92 (N.D. Ga. 1973).
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In light of its disagreement with the district court, the Fifth
Circuit found it necessary to address itself to each of the three
Howey requirements. Judge Gewin thought it obvious that there
had been an investment of money; accordingly, the first require-
ment was satisfied.'99 He then moved quickly to the second require-
ment and to a determination of whether the Koscot operation could
be said to function as a common enterprise. As a starting point for
analysis, Judge Gewin pointed to the Ninth Circuit's decision in
SEC v. Glen W. Turner Enterprises, Inc., 20° in which the court
stated:

A common enterprise is one in which the fortunes of the investor
are interwoven with and dependent upon the efforts and success
of those seeking the investment or of third parties. 01

As Judge Gewin interpreted the definition, "[tihe critical factor is
not the similitude or coincidence of investor input, but rather the
uniformity of impact of the promoter's efforts. ' '

11
2 After deciding

that the Ninth Circuit's definition is in accord with the reasoning
of the Supreme Court in Howey and is consistent with a prior Fifth
Circuit decision, 203 the court concluded that as to the Koscot scheme
the second requirement of the Howey test had been satisfied:

[T]he fact that an investor's return is independent of that of other
investors in the scheme is not decisive. Rather, the requisite com-
monality is evidenced by the fact that the fortunes of all investors
are inextricably tied to the efficacy of the Koscot meetings and
guidelines on recruiting prospects and consummating a sale.20

By the court's own statement, the critical issue in the case
revolved around what approach should be taken toward interpreta-
tion and application of the third element of the test;205 profits result-
ing solely from the efforts of individuals other than the investor. If
a literal approach were adopted, it seems clear that the exertion of
any effort by an investor would require the conclusion that the

199. SEC v. Koscot Interplanetary, Inc., 497 F.2d 473 (5th Cir. July,1974).
200. 474 F.2d 476 (9th Cir.), cert. denied, 414 U.S. 821 (1973). The case is noted at Note,

51 TEXAS L. REv. 788 (1973).
201. 474 F.2d at 482 n.7.
202. SEC v. Koscot Interplanetary, Inc., 497 F.2d 473, 478 (5th Cir. July,1974).
203. Blackwell v. Bentsen, 203 F.2d 690 (5th Cir. 1953), cert. dismissed, 347 U.S. 925

(1954).
204. SEC v. Koscot Interplanetary, Inc., 497 F.2d 473, 479 (5th Cir. July,1974).
205. Id.
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scheme fails as an investment contract. On the other hand, if a
functional approach were adopted, there would be room for a con-
trary result.

As its touchstone the court chose to be guided ultimately by the
maxim that the 1933 and 1934 Acts are "remedial in nature. '208 In
observing that a literal approach would undermine the remedial
purpose of the securities laws,2  the court agreed with the Ninth
Circuit that the Howey test should not be avoided by a promoter's
requiring that an investor "contribute a modicum of effort."208 In the
court's view furtherance of the underlying purposes of the securities
laws demands that a functional approach to the problem be
adopted.209 Also, the court found support for such an approach in the
Howey decision and in subsequent case-law developments. l0

After deciding that only a functional approach to the problem
would be appropriate, the court again relied on the Ninth Circuit's
decision in Glen W. Turner Enterprises, Inc. and endorsed that
Circuit's analysis of the third requirement of the Howey test.21' The
Ninth Circuit was of the view that the determinative question is
"whether the efforts made by those other than the investor are the
undeniably significant ones, those essential managerial efforts
which affect the failure or success of the enterprise." 12 Applying the
test to the Koscot scheme, the court found the role of the investors
in the recruitment of prospects to be essentially ministerial in na-
ture.211 In the court's view, "the critical determinant of the success
of the Koscot Enterprise lies with the luring effect of the opportun-
ity meetings," which are conducted, or at least largely controlled,
by the promoter-employees of Koscot.2" The court was careful to
limit its holding,215 but found that the flexible approach to the defi-

206. Id.
207. Id. at 480.
208. SEC v. Glenn W. Turner Enterprises, Inc., 474 F.2d 476, 482 (9th Cir.), cert.

denied, 414 U.S. 821 (1973).
209. 497 F.2d at 480.
210. Id. at 480-81.
211. Id. at 483.
212. SEC v. Glenn W. Turner Enterprises, Inc., 474 F.2d 476, 482 (9th Cir.), cert.

denied, 414 U.S. 821 (1973).
213. SEC v. Koscot Interplanetary, Inc., 497 F.2d 473, 485 (5th Cir. July,1974).
214. Id.
215. The court stated:

We confine our holding to those schemes in which promoters retain immediate
control over the essential managerial conduct of an enterprise and where the inves-
tor's realization of profits is inextricably tied to the success of the promotional
scheme. Thus, we acknowledge that a conventional franchise arrangement, wherein
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nition of a security utilized by the Supreme Court in Howey18 en-
compassed "the egregious promotional scheme purveyed by Kos-
cot.'"217

One may question whether the federal securities laws are ap-
propriate as bases for regulating such pyramid marketing schemes.
In fact, federal legislation designed to deal specifically with fraudu-
lent pyramid operations218 has been proposed in the past; until such
regulation becomes a reality, however, it seems clear that the courts
administering the federal securities laws must assume their share of
the responsibility for protecting investors who may fall victim to the
lofty illusions created by an unscrupulous pyramid promoter.

C. Options on Commodities Futures Contracts

Along with the promissory notes discussed above, the court in
SEC v. Continental Commodities Corp.2 1 also dealt with the sale
of options on commodity futures contracts as a potential basis for
federal securities law jurisdiction. Continental Commodities recom-
mended certain commodities futures contracts to its customers. A
customer desiring to participate in the venture was sold an option
for a specified period to purchase the futures contract at a stated
price; Continental Commodities, however, neither maintained an
inventory in the futures contracts, nor made any arrangements to
escrow any part of the customer's payment to insure the later ability
to obtain the contracts. The company also advised the customer
when to sell or exercise his option and when to sell a particular
futures contract. The SEC's complaint alleged several fraudulent
acts on the part of the defendants in connection with the operation
of this trading enterprise and sought a preliminary injunction
against violations of the registration provisions of the 1933 Act and
the antifraud provisions of the 1934 Act.220 The district court, find-

the promoter exercises merely remote control over an enterprise and the investor
operates largely unfettered by promoter mandates presents a different question
than the one posed herein.

Id.
216. Id. at 486. The Court in Howey stated that the definition of a security
• .. embodies a flexible rather than a static principle, one that is capable of
adaptation to meet the countless and variable schemes devised by those who seek
the use of the money of others on the promise of profits.

328 U.S. at 299.
217. 497 F.2d 473, 486 (5th Cir. July,1974).
218. S.4043, 92d Cong., 2d Sess. (1972).
219. 497 F.2d 516 (5th Cir. July,1974).
220. Id. at 517-18.
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ing that the trading in discretionary commodities accounts did not
constitute a security, denied the preliminary injunction.221

In reaching its decision, the Fifth Circuit, again speaking
through Judge Gewin, relied heavily on its interpretation in SEC v.
Koscot Interplanetary, Inc. of the Howey definition of an invest-
ment contract.2 2 The district court, relying primarily on the reason-
ing of the Seventh Circuit in Milnarik v. M-S Commodities, Inc. ,223

had found the "common enterprise" element of the Howey test
absent in the Continental Commodities operation for two reasons:

[F]irst, because each individual invested in different options, the
accounts of individual investors were unrelated; and second, there
was no understanding or expectation that investors would share in
a common fund comprised of the returns of their investments.12 4

These very reasons were those relied on by the Seventh Circuit in
Milnarik to find that discretionary accounts for trading in commodi-
ties futures did not involve an investment contract. 225 The Fifth
Circuit expressly rejected Milnarik.211

Judge Gewin reiterated the court's endorsement in Koscot of a
flexible standard in the application of the Howey test and again
approved the Ninth Circuit's definition in Glen W. Turner Enter-
prises, Inc. of a common enterprise. 22 As interpreted by the court
in Koscot, the determinative consideration under that definition is
"the uniformity of impact of the promoter's efforts. ' ' 22

1 Pointing to
language in the Koscot opinion, Judge Gewin rejected the notion
that the pro rata sharing of profits is a prerequisite to a finding of
commonality and indicated that any "pooling ingredient" was of
little importance in a common enterprise determination. 22 19 Applying
these principles to the Continental Commodities arrangement,
Judge Gewin found that the success of a participant's investment
was essentially and uniformly dependent upon the investment coun-
seling provided by Continental Commodities. 20 Accordingly, the
court, determined to adhere to the resilient approach adopted in

221. Id. at 518, 520.
222. Id. at 521-23; see text accompanying notes 188-217 supra.
223. 457 F.2d 274 (7th Cir.), cert. denied, 409 U.S. 887 (1972).
224. SEC v. Continental Commodities Corp., 497 F.2d 516, 521 (5th Cir. July,1974).
225. Id.
226. Id.
227. Id. at 521-22; see text accompanying notes 200-04 supra.
228. SEC v. Continental Commodities Corp., 497 F.2d 516, 522 (5th Cir. July,1974).
229. Id.
230. Id. at 522-23.

SECURITIES1975]



TEXAS TECH LAW REVIEW

Koscot, found the Continental Commodities operation to involve an
investment contract within the definition of a security.

Ill. CONCLUSION

Although the foregoing discussion does not touch upon all of the
securities law cases decided by the Fifth Circuit during the 1973-74
term, 3 ' it illustrates well the need for a flexible, case-by-case ap-
proach by the federal courts to questions arising under the federal
securities laws. A blind adherence to precedent can result only in
the ultimate circumvention of the purposes of these laws. As financ-
ing techniques continue to develop and become more elaborate and
sophisticated, so must the judicial interpretation of the securities
laws continue to develop to meet the need for increasingly sophisti-
cated regulation. A review of the activity of the Fifth Circuit Court
of Appeals indicates that it has performed admirably in this regard
during the 1973-74 term.

M. Charles Jennings

231. Other securities law cases decided by the Fifth Circuit during the 1973-74 term,
but not discussed in this survey article include Bird v. Ferry, 497 F.2d 112 (5th Cir.
July,1974); Ayers v. Wolfinbarger, 491 F.2d 8 (5th Cir. Mar.,1974); Murtaugh v. University
Computing Co., 490 F.2d 810 (5th Cir. Mar.,1974); Bryan v. Brock & Blevins Co., 493 F.2d
664 (5th Cir. Feb.,1974); McDonough v. Champburger Corp., 488 F.2d 848 (5th Cir. Feb.,
1974); Lewis v. Walston & Co., 487 F.2d 617 (5th Cir. Nov.,1973).
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